Sugar, Rum, and Tobacco: Domestic Resource Mobilization for Low-Income Countries Through Excise Taxes

William Savedoff and Ruth Lopert

Abstract

When today's high-income countries were looking for revenues in the 18th and 19th centuries, "tobacco, rum and sugar" (as Adam Smith wrote) were considered perfect candidates for raising revenues. Over time, such excise taxes have played a smaller role in their total revenues and the focus on such "health taxes" has shifted toward their public health benefits. Nevertheless, today's low-income countries are having difficulty raising the resources they need for public programs. Health taxes could be a new revenue source that addresses this problem.

While excise taxes decrease consumption and create public health benefits, the central focus of this paper is on the revenue they generate. The paper provides a comprehensive overview of issues relevant to using health taxes to raise revenues in low-income countries. The paper argues that in low-income countries, health taxes can raise enough revenue to make them worthwhile and that health taxes may be better candidates for mobilizing domestic resources than some other taxes. It reviews some of the concerns about excise taxes, such as illicit trade, and shows how they tend to be exaggerated and that solutions are available. It explains how to design health taxes to be more effective and efficient; and concludes by discussing political strategies that have been used to successfully enact health taxes in many countries.

Center for Global Development 2055 L Street NW Fifth Floor Washington DC 20036 202-416-4000 www.cgdev.org

This work is made available under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 license.



CGD Policy Paper 164 January 2020

Sugar, Rum, and Tobacco: **Domestic Resource Mobilization for Low-Income Countries** Through Excise Taxes

William Savedoff and Ruth Lopert Center for Global Development

We would like to thank the participants of a workshop which took place on May 16, 2019 in London for their comments and insights based on an earlier draft, as well as useful comments from Kalipso Chalkidou and Prashant Yadav. We would also like to thank the able research assistance provided by Drew D'Alelio and John Polcari.

Savedoff and Lopert, 2020. "Sugar, Rum, and Tobacco: Domestic Resource Mobilization for Low-Income Countries Through Excise Taxes." CGD Policy Paper 164. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/sugar-rumand-tobacco-domestic-resource-mobilization-low-income-countries-through-excise

Center for Global Development 2055 L Street NW Washington, DC 20036

> 202.416.4000 (f) 202.416.4050

www.cgdev.org

and improve lives through innovative economic research that drives better policy and practice by the world's top decision makers. Use and dissemination of this Policy Paper is encouraged; however, reproduced copies may not be used for commercial purposes. Further usage is permitted under the terms of the Creative Commons License.

The Center for Global Development works to reduce global poverty

The views expressed in CGD Policy Papers are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the board of directors, funders of the Center for Global Development, or the authors' respective organizations.

Contents

Introduction
Can health taxes raise enough revenue to make them worthwhile?2
Do health taxes create more problems than they solve?
Revenues
Employment
Poverty and regressivity7
Substitution and illicit trade
How do health taxes compare with other forms of taxation?9
Are health taxes economically or fiscally more efficient than other taxes?9
Do health taxes require less government capacity than other taxes?9
Could the optimal path for developing tax capacity begin with health taxes?10
Is technical support available for health taxes or only for other sources of revenue?11
What designs make health taxes more effective and efficient?11
Simplicity12
Indexation
The health-revenue trade-off
Regional coordination
Hypothecation and Earmarking13
Monitoring and Evaluation
What kinds of political contexts or strategies are required for raising health taxes?14
Conclusions and next steps
References
Appendix 1
Appendix 2

Introduction

Taxing "bads" – the levying of taxes on tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverages—is a far from modern idea. The ancient Egyptians were subject to a beer tax, ostensibly to support wars against Rome, or, according to some, to deter public drunkenness (Mark 2011). More recently, in the 18th and 19th centuries the US and European countries levied taxes on tobacco, rum, and sugar to generate much needed revenues. In 1764, when Britain's coffers had been drained by wars in North America, Parliament began enforcing tariffs on sugar and molasses imported from the colonies. Later the <u>US imposed taxes on whisky</u>, first to pay off the revolutionary war debt, and later to retire its civil war debt.^{1,2}

Governments tended to tax products that were easier to administer and enforce, such as levying customs duties in ports. In 1776, Adam Smith wrote in *The Wealth of Nations*: "Sugar, rum and tobacco are commodities which are nowhere necessaries of life, which are become objects of almost universal consumption, and which are therefore extremely proper subjects of taxation."

Today, <u>188 countries tax tobacco</u>, and <u>more than 160 tax alcohol</u>. Taxes on sugary beverages exist in one form or another in at least <u>39 countries</u> and have even been described as '<u>the</u> <u>new normal</u>' (Silver 2018). Only in the last 50 years, however, has the motivation for taxing these products shifted toward the goal of improving public health. Extensive evidence shows that taxing tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverages is a cost-effective way of discouraging consumption, and thereby reducing death and disease.

The first countries to significantly raise these taxes for health reasons were wealthier nations with effective tax administrations that relied primarily on income and broad-based consumption taxes for government revenue. Even so, the additional revenues were a welcome benefit of raising these taxes, and were significant in both absolute and relative terms in some jurisdictions. Later, public health goals became the primary driver of efforts to tax tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverages, with revenue tending to be a secondary objective.

In light of this focus on health, and with revenue a subsidiary concern, fiscal authorities have generally paid less attention to these taxes. Yet there are specific characteristics of lowincome countries which we discuss later, that suggest excise taxes may be an ideal source of domestic revenue mobilization. This therefore prompts the question:

¹ <u>https://www.ttb.gov/about/history.shtml</u>, accessed April 24, 2019.

² A century later, the repeal of Prohibition was prompted "...as much by the need for revenue as by the desire to eradicate the evils that grew out of that social experiment. ...The economic depression made it impossible for either federal or local governments to derive enough funds from the already overburdened taxpayers". See Harrison LV, Laine E. *After Repeal: A Study Of Liquor Control Administration* (New York: Harper and Brothers, 1936)

Given the specific characteristics of low-income countries and the health benefits of excise taxes on "bads", should raising these taxes be supported and promoted more strongly in low-income countries?

While not an exhaustive treatment of this question, this paper aims to be comprehensive in canvassing the full range of issues relevant to the use of health taxes to raise revenues in low-income countries. While excise taxes decrease consumption and create public health benefits, the central focus of this paper is on the revenue they generate.

The following sections thus present a series of questions that need to be answered. Where the research literature offers relatively well-supported answers, the findings are summarized. For the remainder, hypotheses are suggested or questions are left unanswered, as prompts for further research. The various issues are grouped under five broad questions:

- Can health taxes raise enough revenue to make them worthwhile?
- Do health taxes create more problems than they solve?
- How do health taxes compare with other forms of taxation?
- What designs make health taxes more effective and efficient?
- What are the required political contexts or strategies for collecting health taxes?

Can health taxes raise enough revenue to make them worthwhile?

A common objection to putting both political capital and administrative effort toward raising health taxes is that they are unlikely to raise sufficient revenue. However, this only raises a further question: what determines whether revenue is "sufficient"? Is the appropriate standard the absolute amount of funds raised or relative to GDP, alternative sources of revenue, or the costs of administering and enforcing collection?

The amount of revenues from health taxes can be significant in absolute terms. In 2016 taxes on tobacco raised almost US\$1 billion in South Africa, and around US\$2 billion in both Mexico and the Philippines (see Table 1). Revenues from alcohol and sugary beverage taxes were also substantial. While these revenues are significant as a proportion of government spending on health, they are modest relative to total revenues. Health tax revenues range from about one-fifth of government health spending in South Africa and Mexico, to almost two-thirds in the Philippines. Yet, relative to total revenues, they represent about 2 percent in Mexico, 3 percent in South Africa, and 5 percent in the Philippines.

Table 1: Health Tax Revenues in Selected Middle-Income Countries (circa 2016)

	Mexico	South Africa	Philippines
Revenues from			
Tobacco	2,030.3	934.27	1,884.5
Alcohol	2,462.31	1,772.75	n.d.
Sugary Beverages	1,244.57	163.42	793.33
Total health tax revenues	5,737.18	2,870.44	2,677.83
Total health tax revenues as share of (%):			
Public health spending	19	22	63
Total government revenue	2	3	5
GDP	1	1	1

(2016 US\$ millions)

Notes and sources: Mexican data for each product are from the Ministry of Finance. Tobacco data for South Africa and the Philippines are from the most recent year reported for each country in the WHO Report on the Global Tobacco Epidemic (2017). Alcohol data are from the WHO Global Health Observatory. South Africa's sugary beverage tax revenues are for 2018 as reported by the Ministry of Finance. The Philippines' sugary beverage revenues are based on a 2018 projection from WHO. Public health spending data are from WHO (GGHE-D, 2016); Total Government Revenue data are from the IMF Government Finance Statistics (2016) database; and GDP figures are from the IMF WEO (2016).

Of course, health tax rates could be increased in these countries; doubling these rates would significantly increase the health tax contribution to overall revenues. However, these are middle-income countries with significant tax bases and relatively robust institutional capacity, so the amounts generated are always likely to be small relative to the contribution of income and consumption taxes. That said, none of this discussion of revenue capacity detracts from the health benefits of these taxes, which have been significant (Chaloupka and Powell 2018).

But what would these figures look like in low-income countries? There the relative amounts of revenue that could be generated are likely to be much larger. Simulations from the William Davidson Institute (WDI) for 16 low-income countries (Table 2) provide some idea of the potential magnitude (Davis et al., 2019). These were developed to provide a rough guide to the scale of revenues that could be raised, and are not intended to represent precise projections for any individual country or product.

The simulations use demand elasticities for each country that are derived from the median rates among a group of peer countries. The estimates assume full pass-through of the taxes to prices, so in each case the impact should be interpreted as the result of the percentage increase in price, noting that achieving that price increase may actually require a proportionally larger tax hike. The estimates presented in Table 2 are arguably conservative, being based on a simulation that assumed no price would increase by more than 50 percent, and that only one-third of the revenues would be collected due to poor tax enforcement capacity. However, they are still only partial equilibrium estimates.

Table 2: Estimated Health Tax Revenues in Selected Low-Income Countries

	Haiti	Myanmar	Papua New Guinea	Tanzania
Revenues from				
Tobacco	14	109	259	50
Alcohol	595	1,431	137	369
Sugary Beverages	616	1,828	410	684
Total health tax revenues	1,135	3,368	806	1,103
Total health tax revenues as share of (%):				
Total health expenditure	113	58	55	24
Total government revenue	n.d.	45	15	12
GDP	7.7	2.9	2.2	1.4

(2016 US\$ millions)

Note: Values are additional tax revenue in 2016 in response to tax increases that raise prices by 50 percent, except for a few cases where the revenue-maximizing rate is lower than 50 percent, and assume only one-third of revenues are effectively collected. Estimates are based on price-demand response and do not incorporate general equilibrium effects.

Source: Davis et al., 2019.

The results for 16 low-income countries show that raising taxes that increase product prices by 50 percent, and are only effective at collecting one-third of the taxes due, could still generate revenues ranging from 9 percent of total health expenditure in Senegal to more than 100 percent in Haiti and Lao PDR.³ This confirms that price-elasticity is not a limiting factor and that low-income countries could potentially raise significant funds from health taxes.

The potential to raise funds from health taxes is further constrained when the revenues become significant shares of national income (GDP). At this scale, income elasticities grow in importance relative to price elasticities. For example, at 1.4% of GDP, the revenue potential for Tanzania reported in Table 2 might be considered plausible. However, it is difficult to imagine Haiti collecting 7.7% of GDP through health taxes without substantial macroeconomic adjustment. Thus, while health taxes can clearly raise significant revenues in low-income countries, the experience of middle-income countries in Table 1 should be kept in mind when anticipating the actual amounts that might be raised relative to GDP.

Tax collection and administration are important constraints, especially in countries with conflicts or weak public institutions. Decisions about tax policy and design must account for existing administrative capacity. In doing so, countries can consider whether improvements in administrative capacity would be better deployed to collect taxes from widely dispersed retailers (in the case of VAT), public facilities (in the case of user fees), and households (in the case of income taxes), rather than from ports and factories (through excise taxes on tobacco, alcohol or sugary beverages). At a minimum, calculations of potential revenues should be adjusted for the estimated costs of implementation and enforcement.

Do health taxes create more problems than they solve?

Health taxes are consistently opposed by the industries that manufacture and distribute these products, using a variety of arguments that are at worst, factually wrong, and at best, misleading. Typically, these objections fail to justify opposing health taxes, though they do bring attention to the need for complementary policies to ensure they are effective at reducing consumption, raising revenues, *and* addressing equity. These objections also illustrate some of the key ways that industries marshal political opposition, by identifying and mobilizing groups that may be harmed by such taxes, and for whom compensatory policies might be in order. Some of the most common claims are that health taxes will:

- reduce consumption so much that revenues will fall;
- reduce employment in agriculture, manufacturing, and distribution;
- · lead to smuggling, which will cause revenues to fall, and encourage lawlessness;
- · lead to substitution with other, and in some cases, more harmful or illicit products; and
- · disproportionately harm the poor.

Revenues

Health tax opponents regularly claim that raising taxes will reduce consumption so much that revenues will fall, but this is fundamentally a theoretical and not an empirical claim. For revenues to fall after a tax increase, the product of the price elasticity of demand and the tax increase must be large relative to the price.³ However, the elasticities of demand for tobacco and alcohol are consistently low (-0.5 to -0.6 on average), which makes this a relatively unlikely scenario. Sugary beverages tend to have higher elasticities of demand and would presumably reach a point at which revenues started to decline, at a lower tax rate.

While it can be difficult to estimate these parameters with precision, we can draw on past experience, which has consistently shown that raising taxes on tobacco, alcohol, and sugary beverages leads to higher revenues. Where middle-income countries have increased taxes on these products, they have also increased revenues (see Table 3). Although most of the research on this relationship is available for tobacco (NCI and WHO 2016), experience with alcohol and sugary beverage taxes has shown similar results (Chaloupka and Powell 2018).

³ See Appendix 2 for a formal statement of this proposition.

Country/product	Years	Tax increase	Increase in Revenues (US\$ millions)
Philippines (tobacco)	2012 to 2015	76% to 167%	1,280
South Africa (alcohol)	2006/07 to 2015/16	25% for wine 17% for beer 75% for spirits	780
Mexico (sugary beverages)	2014 to 2015	~10%	1,000
Colombia (tobacco)	2016 to 2017	200%	106

Table 3: Health tax increases and resulting revenues in selected countries

Note: The tax increase column may be the effect on prices after the introduction of the tax or the actual rate. Revenues are converted from domestic currency at the foreign exchange rate at the end of the period. *Sources:* Figures or estimated from information in Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health 2019b with the exception of the Colombian figures which are taken from Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health 2019a.

Employment

If taxing tobacco, alcohol, and sugary beverages reduces consumption, then it is likely to impact employment in the affected sectors. However, when industries use these arguments to oppose tax increases, they exaggerate the scale of the impact, and ignore how shifting demand will increase employment in other sectors. They also deflect attention from the harmful effects of production that frequently involves child labor and damage to workers' health through exposure to nicotine, pesticides, and other toxic chemicals (Marquéz et al. 2017; Fuchs et al. 2019).

Studies find that aggregate employment is unlikely to decline when consumers shift spending to other products, and governments spend augmented revenues on goods and services. In response to tobacco taxes, overall employment is either unaffected or experiences modest gains when consumers reallocate their spending and demand other goods (NCI and WHO 2016; Marquéz et al. 2017). In the US and Mexico, studies have found similar conclusions for alcohol and sugary beverage taxes (Wada et al. 2017; Guerrero-Lopez et al. 2017; Powell et al. 2014).

However, focusing on aggregate employment ignores sectoral and distributional variations and neglects adjustment costs. While every country differs in this regard, depending on the nature and extent of domestic production, even local effects on employment and incomes may be relatively modest. China is the world's biggest tobacco leaf producer, yet only 2 percent of its farmers grow tobacco alongside other more remunerative crops (Hu, et al., 2007). The share of employment in tobacco growing regions is higher, but farmers can

adjust by growing other, often more remunerative, crops.⁴ Declining employment in tobacco growing and cigarette manufacturing are mainly the result of mechanization and market changes, not taxes. In a country such as Malawi, which depends heavily on tobacco exports, raising domestic taxes on consumption is unlikely to affect employment because domestic consumption is only a small share of the market. Instead, tobacco taxes represent an effective policy for improving domestic health and mobilizing domestic revenue, with minimal impact on employment.

The appropriate policy response to these sectoral and distributional concerns is not to oppose taxes, but to provide compensation or support for workers affected by shifting production. Policies that address the substantive distributional impact of the taxes on workers can help mitigate political opposition to health taxes.

Poverty and regressivity

While health tax opponents argue that these taxes disproportionately harm the poor and are regressive, it is actually the health and financial consequences of consuming the products that are often regressive and most harmful to the poor. Poorer households tend to face more hardship from the diseases associated with consuming tobacco, alcohol, and sugary beverages than richer households. They also tend to be more responsive to price increases. Consequently, most studies find that poor households experience net benefits when health taxes are increased. In essence, the money spent on taxes is offset by savings from the reduced consumption of these toxic products, the avoidance of associated health care costs, and the loss of fewer working days (Gruber 2003; Sassi et al. 2018; Fuchs and Meneses 2017, 2018; Global Tobacco Economics Consortium 2018).

Nevertheless, the impact in individual countries or associated with particular products may diverge from this broader tendency of health taxes to differentially benefit the poor. The actual impact will depend upon several factors, including the relative prevalence of consumption by income group, responsiveness to price increases, and financing mechanisms for health care. While studies regularly find that poor households as a group tend to benefit disproportionately from health taxes, the distributional consequences within income classes may be significant. Households that reduce or eliminate consumption of these products benefit substantially, while households that continue to consume these products will face higher expenditures. As with employment, the appropriate policy response is not to oppose these taxes; rather it is to implement compensatory programs, such as cash grants, and

⁴ A study in Sichuan Province calculated that tobacco had lower returns than vegetable oil, beans, or fruit and was comparable to grains. Another in Yunnan estimated returns to tobacco were lower than the other crops. Some reasons farmers may continue to grow tobacco: (1) local governments encourage cultivation because they derive substantial tax revenue from it; (2) the national tobacco monopoly provides fertilizer, seeds and other extensions services which are not available for other crops; and (3) it may diversify risk (Hu, et al., 2007). Regardless of the specific features of any particular market, it is likely (as in China's case) that the effects of reducing tobacco production are likely to be small or, if significant to particular populations, easily compensated if national governments were willing to put some portion of new tax revenue into such programs.

programs that help poor households to reduce consumption, such as assistance in smoking cessation, addressing alcoholism, and improving diet.

Substitution and illicit trade

Tax opponents argue that raising taxes will lead to tax evasion and illicit trade (including smuggling). Consumers may adjust their behavior to avoid paying health taxes by, for example, purchasing black market cigarettes, making 'home brew', or purchasing across borders (Allcott et al 2019).

This argument can only be verified empirically and research demonstrates that these objections are generally weak or wrong. For example, the major factor associated with differences across countries in illicit trade is not price differentials, but tax enforcement capacity (Dutta, ed. 2019). Second, in almost all situations where taxes have been increased, evasion and illicit trade have not been so extensive as to offset entirely declines in consumption and increases in revenues (see Fig. 1). Third, despite images of people bootlegging across borders, significant illicit trade typically requires complicity or self-interested ignorance on the part of large manufacturers. Cigarette companies paid billion-dollar damages to Canada, the UK, and the EU for their role in encouraging illicit trade during the late 1990s and early 2000s. Although smuggling has declined over the last 20 years, a variety of other illicit methods, such as parallel trade, are used to evade taxes (Joossens and Raw 2012). In sum, concerns about illicit trade do not justify opposing tax increases, but they do merit attention to improving tax enforcement, and coordinating tax policies between neighboring countries.

Figure 1: Higher Taxes in the 1990s Raised Prices and Reduced Sales in France, Despite Illegal Trade



Source: Provided by Prabhat Jha to the authors based on research he conducted with Catherine Hill, not yet published.

How do health taxes compare with other forms of taxation?

When considering whether a low-income country should introduce or raise health taxes, one of the questions is how raising revenue from these taxes differs from other sources of revenue such as VAT, income, import duties, or property taxes. There are at least four aspects to this question:

- Are health taxes economically or fiscally more efficient than other taxes?
- Do health taxes require less government capacity than other taxes?
- Could the optimal path for developing tax capacity begin with health taxes?
- Is technical support available for health taxes, or only for other sources of revenue?

Are health taxes economically or fiscally more efficient than other taxes?

Economic theory holds that taxes that lead to less market distortion are more economically efficient than others. Health taxes may therefore be more economically efficient than other taxes for at least two reasons. First, consumption of products like tobacco, alcohol, and sugary beverages leads to both negative externalities and "internalities" (Allcott et al., 2019; Chaloupka et al., 2019). By raising the price of these products, it encourages consumers to internalize the social costs of their consumption. Second, and perhaps more importantly, health taxes may be a more efficient source of additional revenues than other taxes that might otherwise discourage investment, production or healthy consumption. So, for example, an optimal tax on alcohol might be quite high, to the extent that it can substitute for, or forestall increases in labor taxes (Parry et al. 2009).

Do health taxes require less government capacity than other taxes?

The challenge of collecting taxes depends on the context, the characteristics of the goods or services being taxed, and the complexity of the tax. In low-income countries, large informal sectors make it difficult both to register taxpayers and to discourage evasion of income taxes and VAT. Property taxes are also difficult to collect where land registration is limited, and in many cases, where governments do not revalue assets over time. Customs duties are somewhat easier to collect, but where evasion of these taxes is high, it can be due to difficulty in limiting corrupt practices.

Like most excise taxes, health taxes are not necessarily *easy* to collect, but they do have some features that can make them less difficult to collect in low-income countries, depending on the structure of the market and the availability of locally produced substitutes. Tobacco and sugary beverages are typically highly concentrated industries, making it feasible to tax imports on entry, and at the factory for domestic production. The manufacture and

distribution of alcoholic beverages have undergone massive concentration in the past two decades and may also be taxed at ports and factories. Both the administrative and political feasibility of taxation will vary with market structure which is quite diverse; some of these markets are dominated by state-sanctioned monopolies, others by numerous small producers, and still others by multinational corporations.

Substitution also varies across countries. For example, countries with domestic tobacco production would have to enforce cigarette taxes, while simultaneously discouraging or regularizing informal production and sales. Sugary beverages already have many substitutes, so it is unlikely that informal production would thrive. Alcoholic beverages, however, are readily produced in small batches, and efforts to discourage and regulate such production would be an issue in most places.

Despite these difficulties, the potential for evasion does not justify opposition to health tax increases; it simply raises two other questions. First, will the evasion be significant enough to offset the additional revenues and positive health impacts? Second, are the costs and capacities required for the collection of health taxes greater than those required for taxing income, VAT, or property? The answers will vary across countries depending on a number of factors, including the market structure and the availability of substitutes for the taxed products on the one hand, and the level of informality on the other. Nevertheless, the historical record suggests that the answers to these questions are both negative.

Could the optimal path for developing tax capacity begin with health taxes?

A government's ability to raise revenues depends not only on the tax base itself, but also on factors such as respect for government institutions; the government's credibility in detecting and punishing evasion; and the capacity of government institutions to design, implement, monitor, evaluate, and enforce tax policies. The tax system forms one of the major interfaces between citizens and the state, thus the way in which taxes are administered can fundamentally influence public trust in government (Bird 2015). Most countries with effective tax systems have developed respect, credibility and capacity over long periods of time.

International support for low-income countries seeking to mobilize additional revenues appears to be focused on income taxes and VAT, on the reasonable justification that these are the taxes with the broadest bases and are therefore most likely to generate substantial revenues without generating large market distortions. In this case, health taxes are seen as a relatively modest source of revenues that merely complements the main sources.

However, if governments can only collect revenues effectively when public institutions attain a certain level of capacity, credibility and respect, it is possible that a dynamic approach could begin with taxes that are easier to collect. Then countries would learn by doing, and could progressively expand their capacity to collect more difficult-to-implement taxes. In cases where health taxes are easier to collect, this argument would suggest *beginning* with health taxes, and using them as a learning process to build institutional capacity, which could then be applied to other taxes.

Designing an optimal path for developing tax capacity is likely to be subject to considerable judgment, but could be informed by the relative difficulties of raising different taxes. If the historical record is any guide, it is clear that today's wealthy countries relied more heavily on customs duties and taxes on tobacco, alcohol and sugar when they had income levels comparable to today's low-income countries. For example, Britain introduced steep tariffs on wine imports from France in the early 18th century, which protected domestic brewers. It then levied high excise taxes on the breweries, using its ability to withdraw protection as a lever to ensure compliance (Nye 2007).

Is technical support available for health taxes or only for other sources of revenue?

Low-income countries rely a great deal on external actors, both public and private, for assistance in improving their capacity to raise taxes. The World Bank and IMF play a prominent role in tax policy debates through policy dialogue and lending programs. They also collaborate with other institutions through initiatives such as the <u>Platform for</u> <u>Collaboration on Tax</u> and tools such as the <u>Tax Policy Assessment Framework</u>. The OECD and many OECD countries provide direct assistance to countries, either through bilateral programs or technical assistance from their Finance Ministries. UN Agencies, philanthropies, and non-profit organizations are also involved in providing such technical assistance.

Based on <u>OECD-DAC data</u> for 2016, low- and middle-income countries received a total of \$301 million in overseas development aid for domestic revenue mobilization, most of which went to Asian and African countries. The top donors were the UK (\$40.8 million), US (\$36.8 million), Germany (\$29.8 million), IDA (\$14.4 million), and Norway (\$13.7 million) (D'Alelio 2019). We were unable to find summary information about the nature of this technical assistance disaggregated by particular forms of taxation. If such data were available, it might be possible to determine the focus of most technical support and assess whether additional resources should be applied to introducing or improving health tax policies.

What designs make health taxes more effective and efficient?

In *The Wealth of Nations*, Adam Smith argued that taxation should adhere to the four principles of fairness, certainty, convenience and efficiency. Efficiency pertains to the collection of taxes: put simply, tax collection should not adversely affect the allocation and use of resources in the economy, and (naturally) should not cost more than the revenue generated. A great deal of research and analysis, frameworks and tools are available to guide countries in designing efficient tax systems in general, and efficient health taxes in particular (Chaloupka and Powell 2018; WHO 2010). This section focuses on best practices in designing health taxes, with the qualification that countries need to consider the context in

which the health taxes are being implemented and how these taxes will interact with and affect other sources of revenue.

Simplicity

Simpler health taxes are easier to administer and enforce. They are therefore more likely to reduce consumption and raise revenues. Experience with tobacco taxes shows that a single, large, specific tax per pack or per cigarette is generally more effective than an *ad valorem* tax or a tax with multiple tiers.

When manufacturers are unable to forestall health taxes, they often argue for *ad valorem* taxes on the basis that they are more equitable than specific taxes, as the absolute amount of the tax will be greater on higher-priced products. Ad valorem taxes do have the benefit of keeping pace with inflation. However, they also give rise to larger price differentials between brands, creating more scope for consumers to substitute downward as prices increase (Chaloupka and Powell LM 2018). By contrast, the use of a single, large, specific tax tends to narrow price gaps between brands, thereby reducing the tendency for smokers to "trade down" (NCI and WHO 2016). For this reason, specific taxes are strongly recommended for health taxes because they are likely to reduce consumption more than a comparable ad valorem tax.

A strong argument can be made for taxing alcohol on the basis of ethanol content, and sugary beverages based on sugar content, since ethanol and sugar are the toxic components of those beverages. South Africa's experience with taxing beer bears this out (Blecher 2015). However, from a tax administration perspective, it may be easier to collect taxes based on total volume—like Mexico's peso per liter sugary beverage tax—rather than content. (Francis 2017). This is an empirical question that could be investigated for low-income countries (Grummon et al., 2019).

Indexation

For countries that apply specific taxes, indexation is critical to maintaining the real value of the tax over time, yet few countries actually build automatic inflation adjustments into their legislation. In low- and middle-income countries, rapid income growth has made tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverages more affordable over time, even in the presence of significant tax increases. South Africa has indexed its alcohol taxes to inflation since 1994 (Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health 2019b), while Australia currently indexes tobacco taxes at a rate

in excess of both inflation and wages growth⁵, thereby ensuring that cigarettes do not become more affordable over time. (Hirono 2017).

The health-revenue trade-off

A tax designed to maximize health impact will seek to reduce consumption, while a tax designed to maximize revenues will seek to minimize the impact on consumption. In practice, tax policy is determined by so many competing political and institutional factors that no tax is designed optimally for either health or revenue. Analyses of countries that have introduced or raised health taxes demonstrate that they regularly reduce consumption *and* raise revenues. Nevertheless, this trade-off should be kept in mind when supporting low-income countries attempting to increase revenues from these excises—the health costs of the associated diseases are enormous, and it would be unwise for countries to enact such taxes solely as a source of revenue.

Regional coordination

Regional coordination of excise tax policies can lower the average costs of administration, encourage coordinated enforcement, and discourage evasion. However, such coordination requires more than just setting common tax rates. It also includes key design questions such as defining what is taxed (e.g., volume of sugary beverage or amount of added sugar, Francis 2017). Also, a potential risk of coordination is that countries might accept lower rates in an effort to gain consensus. Regional coordination will be of particular importance for smaller countries, and for those with weakly enforced borders.

Hypothecation and Earmarking

Fiscal policy experts frown on hypothecating taxes for particular purposes because it limits flexibility in spending policy, and can reduce the accountability of institutions that automatically receive the funds. However, they tend to accept the practicality of 'soft' earmarking—policies that may involve public pledges to apply new taxes to particular programs or initiatives, without legally requiring that funds be managed separately and dedicated to a specific end. Eighty countries use some degree of earmarking and do so for a variety of reasons, and with varying degrees of constraint (See Cashin et al. 2017; and Appendix 1).

Many of those who have advocated raising health taxes in recent years have argued that some linkage between higher taxes and their uses is essential for garnering both public and political support and assuring the passage of legislation. Countries such as Ghana, the

⁵ In May 2016, the Australian Government announced its intention to impose annual increases in tobacco excise of 12.5%, up to and including 2020, eventually raising the cost of a pack of cigarettes to AUD 40 (approximately USD 27) making Australian cigarettes the world's most expensive.

Philippines, and Vietnam have explicitly earmarked funds for health spending as part of their political strategies (see, for example, Kaiser et al. 2016). It therefore appears that the argument over earmarking health taxes for particular uses faces two competing practical questions:

- To what extent do demands for earmarking health taxes alienate finance ministries and those concerned with economic policy?
- To what extent does earmarking health taxes generate political support for these taxes?

It also appears that proposing soft earmarking may reduce some resistance among those charged with fiscal policy, prompting questions about the nature of soft earmarking, how countries have designed and implemented it, and how it has been communicated to the public (Cashin et al. 2017).

As a minor digression, many low-income countries charge user fees in health facilities, which can present barriers to access for the poor. The idea of replacing this out-of-pocket spending with funds from health taxes is attractive as a way to reduce demand-side barriers to provision. However, the distribution of funds from a central ministry through the intermediation of the health system may not be as effective at supporting the provision of services in health facilities as in cases where user fees are directly controlled and managed by the facilities. Thus, any linkage between raising health taxes and reducing user fees must address the resulting changes in the institutions, incentives, and funding flows in the health system more broadly, in order to ensure that local provision is not impaired.

Monitoring and Evaluation

Building processes for monitoring and evaluation into the implementation framework for new or increased excise taxes should ideally be part of the initial design. Health taxes are controversial; collecting and disseminating good data on the effects of the taxation changes and the disbursement of funds can help dissipate pushback and build public support (Brumby 2014).

What kinds of political contexts or strategies are required for raising health taxes?

Even with clarity about all the preceding issues, raising taxes is fundamentally a political challenge. This means that, at best, research and sharing experiences can inform the policymakers who need to make judgments about what they can and cannot enact in their own countries. The following are some considerations that would factor into these judgments and which might benefit from further research.

In the many contexts where these product markets are concentrated, proposals for raising health taxes are most likely to succeed when the industry concerned can be politically isolated, and the substantial health benefits are made strongly visible in the debates. In some cases, linking health taxes to particular public expenditures—such as health care services or

compensation for growers of tobacco, sugar and the crops used to make alcohol—may assist politicians in mobilizing support from the broader public.

On the other hand, taxes levied on a specific industry will certainly generate stronger and more coordinated opposition. The tobacco, alcohol and sugary beverage industries have a long history of opposing taxes on their products, and they are skilled at manipulating popular opinion through front groups, as well as influencing policymakers through direct lobbying. Some of the industries' tactics include disseminating biased research, contributing funds to influence election campaigns, meeting privately with public officials in violation of the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, and threatening costly lawsuits (Brownell and Warner 2009; WHO 2009; Saloojee and Dagli 2000; Bond et al. 2010; Moodie et al. 2013; Smith et al. 2013; Gilmore et al. 2015; Tobacco Control Research Group 2017; Granheim et al. 2017; Ross et al. 2017; Du et al. 2018; Schaller and Mons 2018; Roache 2018, Gornall 2019). During Colombia's debate over sugary beverage taxes, individuals in a public interest group were subjected to death threats, and a beverage company successfully convinced the government to stop the group from airing its advertisements—an action that was later overturned by the courts (Jacobs and Richtel 2017).

Responding to such trenchant opposition requires public action on many levels, and will be more effective with international support. Policymakers need credible research to contest false or misleading claims regarding the effects on revenues and employment, on regressivity and illicit trade; they need credible responses for groups such as farmers or factory workers, who may face hardship; and they need to foresee benefits from the health taxes that justify spending their political capital to obtain passage and assure implementation.

Health taxes are not the only form of taxation that faces these difficulties. Hence, if the goal is more revenues, then the question is whether the challenges of raising health taxes exceed those of other forms of taxation. The answer clearly depends on context, but also on the kinds of international support available. Political strategies are often best informed by real experiences. When a country considers raising health taxes, it can benefit by direct contact with authorities that have raised these taxes in their own countries, hearing what strategies they used and the lessons they learned.⁶

Conclusions and next steps

Strengthening tax systems has emerged as a key development priority, being a core element of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) framework and the Addis Ababa Action Agenda for enhancing domestic resource mobilization. The UN Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) estimates that globally the level of investment needed to achieve the SDGs will well exceed the levels of both official development assistance (ODA) and

⁶. The Philippines' sin tax reform was a major policy change, generated significant revenues that were earmarked for the national health insurance scheme, and is one of the best documented cases. It is worth noting that despite strong domestic public support and support from the international community (including the World Bank, IMF, and WHO), the bill was strongly contested. See Kaiser et al. 2016.

foreign direct investment in many low-income countries, and that greater reliance on taxes will be essential (Araki and Nakabayashi 2018).

While there is evidence that health taxes can raise enough revenue to make them worthwhile, the amounts that can be generated and their relative importance will vary across countries. Still, initial simulations demonstrate that in 8 out of 16 low-income countries that were analyzed, perfectly-implemented tax hikes sufficient to increase prices by 50 percent could generate revenues equal to more than 50 percent of total health expenditures in most cases. With more realistic estimates, this still suggests that countries could generate additional revenues equivalent to 10 or 20 percent of total health expenditure.

Health taxes may also be less costly and require less institutional capacity to implement than other forms of taxation. In fact, it is possible that they represent the first step in an optimal path toward building effective tax-collecting institutions. However, these points are essentially hypotheses to be tested in specific contexts, and for comparison among particular forms of taxation in each country.

While health taxes do have some negative effects, these are generally outweighed by the benefits in improved health, reduced economic costs, and higher revenues. Further, policies tailored to address negative effects in the form of compensatory programs for employees or particular consumers are likely to be justified both ethically and politically, while costing less than the amount of revenues raised.

Health taxes are likely to be more effective when they are designed to be simple, to rise automatically with inflation and wage growth, to coordinate with neighboring countries, and to connect in the public's view to important expenditure, whether through political statements or soft earmarking. They are also likely to be more effective when they are designed with attention to the potential trade-offs between improving health and increasing revenues. The design of good tax policy has to be consistent with a country's overall context—economic, social, and political—as well as its existing tax system and strategy for the future. Research in this area might yield some generalizable conclusions about the relative costs and benefits of different designs, but there will always be a need to assess such generalizations in the light of context-specific factors.

Political strategies for introducing or increasing health taxes are of great importance. The kinds of coalitions that are required to enact and implement health taxes are different from those related to other forms of taxation. A great deal of research is available to understand and counter opposition by industries associated with these products. Documenting the experiences of countries that have tried to raise health taxes and facilitating the direct exchange of experiences between countries could support more effective action. International support could also play a key role in debunking disinformation and providing credibility to government plans.

References

- Allcott H, Lockwood B, Taubinsky D. 2019. Should We Tax Sugar-Sweetened Beverages? An Overview of Theory and Evidence [Internet]. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. Available at: <u>http://www.nber.org/papers/w25842.pdf</u>
- Araki S, Nakabayashi S (Eds). 2018. *Tax and development: challenges in Asia and the Pacific.* Tokyo: Asian Development Bank Institute.
- Bird R. 2015. Improving Tax Administration in Developing Countries. *Journal of Tax Administration*, [online] 1(1). Available at:

http://jota.website/index.php/JoTA/article/view/8/16

Blecher E. 2015. <u>Taxes on tobacco, alcohol, and sugar sweetened beverages: linkages and lessons learned</u>. *Social Science & Medicine* 136-137:175-179.

Bond L, Daube M, Chikritzhs T. 2010. Selling addictions: similarities in approaches between Big Tobacco and Big Booze. *Australasian Medical Journal* 3(6):325-332.

Brownell KD, Warner KE. 2009. The perils of ignoring history: Big Tobacco played dirty and millions died. How similar is Big Food? *The Milbank Quarterly* 87(1):259-294.

- Brumby J. 2014. *The Seven Salvos Of Sin (Taxes)*. [online] Available at: https://blogs.worldbank.org/health/seven-salvos-sin-taxes
- Cashin, C, Sparkes S, Bloom D. 2017. *Earmarking for health: from theory to practice*. No. WHO/HIS/HGF/HFWorkingPaper/17.5. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Chaloupka FJ, Powell LM. 2018. <u>Using Fiscal Policy to Promote Health: Taxing Tobacco</u>, <u>Alcohol and Sugary Beverages</u>. Background Paper for the Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health. New York: Bloomberg Philanthropies
- Chaloupka IV, F.J., Levy, M.R. and White, J.S., 2019. *Estimating Biases in Smoking Cessation: Evidence from a Field Experiment* (No. w26522). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- D'Alelio D. 2019. *Domestic Revenue Mobilization: Mapping Existing Work, Initiatives, and People.* CGD Note. Washington, DC: Center for Global Development.
- Davis B, Leroueil P, Savedoff WD. 2019. *Excise Tax Estimates for 'Bads' in Low- and Middle-Income Countries.* WDI Discussion Paper. Ann Arbor: William Davidson Institute at the University of Michigan.
- Du M, Tugendhaft A, Erzse A, Hofman KJ. 2018. Focus: Nutrition and Food Science: Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Taxes: Industry Response and Tactics. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine* 91(2):185-190.
- Dutta S, ed. 2019. <u>Confronting Illicit Tobacco Trade</u>: *A Global Review of Country Experiences*. World Bank Group Global Tobacco Control Program. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Francis N, Marron DB, Rueben KS. 2017. The Pros and Cons of Taxing Sweetened Beverages Based on Sugar Content. SSRN Electronic Journal [Internet]. Available at: <u>https://www.ssrn.com/abstract=2947716</u>
- Fuchs A, Meneses FJ. 2017. *Are Tobacco Taxes Really Regressive? Evidence from Chile.* World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 7988. Washington DC: The World Bank.
- Fuchs A, Meneses FJ. 2018. *Tobacco Price Elasticity and Tax Progressivity in Moldova*. Washington DC: The World Bank.
- Fuchs, A, Márquez PV, Dutta S, González Icaza F. 2019. Is Tobacco Taxation Regressive? Evidence on Public Health, Domestic Resource Mobilization, and Equity Improvements. World Bank Group Global Tobacco Control Program. Washington, DC: The World Bank.

Gilmore AB, Fooks G, Drope J, Bialous SA, Jackson RR. 2015. Exposing and addressing tobacco industry conduct in low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet* 385(9972):1029-43.

Global Tobacco Economics Consortium. 2018. The health, poverty, and financial consequences of a cigarette price increase among 500 million male smokers in 13 middle income countries: compartmental model study. *British Medical Journal* 361:1162.

- Gornall J. 2019. Big tobacco, the new politics, and the threat to public health. BMJ 15;l2164.
- Granheim SI, Engelhardt K, Rundall P, Bialous S, Iellamo A, Margetts B. 2017. Interference in public health policy: examples of how the baby food industry uses tobacco industry tactics. *World Nutrition* 8(2):288-310.
- Gruber J. 2003. Government Policy Towards Smoking: A View from Economics. Yale Journal of Health Policy, Law, and Ethics 3(1):119-126
- Grummon AH, Lockwood BB, Taubinsky D, and Allcott, H. 2019. "Designing better sugary drink taxes." *Science* 365(6457): 989-990.
- Guerrero-López CM, Molina M, Colchero MA. 2017. Employment changes associated with the introduction of taxes on sugar-sweetened beverages and nonessential energy-dense food in Mexico. *Preventive Medicine*; 105 (Supplement):S43-S49.
- Hirono K, Smith K. 2017. Australia's \$40 per pack cigarette tax plans: the need to consider equity. *Tobacco Control.* doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2016-053608
- Hu T, Mao Z, Jiang H, Tao M, Yurekli A. 2007. The role of government in tobacco leaf production in China: national and local intervention. *International Journal of Public Policy* 2: 235–248.
- Jacobs A, Richtel M. 2017. *She Took on Colombia's Soda Industry. Then She Was Silenced*. New York Times, Nov. 13. Available at:

https://www.nytimes.com/2017/11/13/health/colombia-soda-tax-obesity.html

- Joossens L, Raw M. (2012). From cigarette smuggling to illicit tobacco trade. *Tobacco Control* 21(2): 230-234.
- Kaiser K, Bredenkamp C, Iglesias R. 2016. Sin tax reform in the Philippines: transforming public finance, health, and governance for more inclusive development. Washington, DC: The World Bank.
- Mark JJ. 2011. Beer in the Ancient World [online]. Ancient History Encyclopaedia. Available at: https://www.ancient.eu/article/223/beer-in-the-ancient-world/
- Marquéz PV, Moreno-Dodson B et al. 2017. *Tobacco tax reform at the crossroads of health and development: a multisectoral perspective.* Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Moodie R, Stuckler D, Monteiro C et al. 2013. Profits and pandemics: prevention of harmful effects of tobacco, alcohol and ultra-processed food and drink industries. *Lancet* 381(9867): 670-679.
- U.S. National Cancer Institute and World Health Organization. 2016. The Economics of Tobacco and Tobacco Control. National Cancer Institute Tobacco Control Monograph 21. NIH Publication No. 16-CA-8029A. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute; and Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Nye JVC. 2007. *War, Wine, and Taxes: The Political Economy of Anglo-French Trade, 1689-1900.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. (A review can be found <u>online here</u>).
- Parry I, West S, Laxminarayan R. 2009. Fiscal and Externality Rationales for Alcohol Policies. *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy* 9(1). doi:10.2202/1935-1682.2133

- Powell LM, Wada R, Persky JJ, Chaloupka FJ. 2014. Employment impact of sugar-sweetened beverage taxes. *American Journal of Public Health* 104(4):672-677.
- Roache S, Platkin C, Gostin L, Kaplan C. 2018. Big Food and Soda Versus Public Health: Industry Litigation Against Local Government Regulations to Promote Healthy Diets. [online]. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3190448
- Ross H, Tesche J, Vellios N. 2017. Undermining government tax policies: Common legal strategies employed by the tobacco industry in response to tobacco tax increases. *Preventive Medicine* 105S:S19-S22.
- Saloojee Y, Dagli E. 2000. *Tobacco industry tactics for resisting public policy on health*. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 78(7): 902-910.
- Sassi F, Belloni A, Mirelman AJ, et al. 2018. Equity impacts of price policies to promote healthy behaviours. *Lancet* <u>391(10134</u>):,2059-2070
- Schaller K, Mons U. 2018. Tax on sugar sweetened beverages and influence of the industry to prevent regulation. *Ernahrungs Umschau* 65(2):M82-9.
- Silver L. Sugary drink taxes the new normal. World Cancer Research Fund. 2018. Available at: https://www.wcrf.org/int/blog/articles/2018/06/sugary-drink-taxes-%E2%80%93new-normal
- Smith KE, Savell E, Gilmore AB. 2013. What is known about tobacco industry efforts to influence tobacco tax? A systematic review of empirical studies. *Tobacco Control*, 22(2):e1–e1.
- Smith TA, Lin BH, Lee JY. 2010. *Taxing Caloric Sweetened Beverages: Potential Effects on Beverage Consumption, Calorie Intake, and Obesity.* Washington DC: United States Department of Agriculture.
- Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health. 2019a. *Health Taxes to Save Lives: Employing Effective Excise Taxes on Tobacco, Alcohol, and Sugary Beverages.* New York: Bloomberg Philanthropies. Available at: <u>https://www.bloomberg.org/program/ public-health/task-force-fiscal-policy-health/</u>
- Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health. 2019b. *Health Taxes to Save Lives. Background Materials: Case Studies.* Prepared for the Task Force on Fiscal Policy for Health by Frank Chaloupka and Lisa Powell, University of Illinois at Chicago. Available at: https://www.bloomberg.org/program/public-health/task-force-fiscal-policy-health/
- Tobacco Control Research Group. 2017. International Tax and Investment Centre. *Tobacco Tactics*. University of Bath.

http://tobaccotactics.org/index.php/International Tax and Investment Center

- Wada R, Chaloupka FJ, Powell LM, Jernigan DH. 2017. Employment impacts of alcohol taxes. *Preventive Medicine* 105(Supplement):S50-S55.
- World Health Organization. 2010. <u>WHO technical manual on tobacco tax administration</u>. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. 2009. *Tobacco Industry Interference with Tobacco Control*. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available at:

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/83128/1/9789241597340 eng.pdf

Appendix 1

Earmarking for Health: Checklist of Key Considerations



Source: Reproduced from Cashin et al. 2017.

Appendix 2

Derivation of conditions required before tax increases would reduce revenues

R = t P Q Revenues = tax rate x price x quantity

Take first derivative with respect to the tax rate, assuming that only Quantity is affected by the tax hike. This implies that the *ad valorem* tax is passed on 100 percent to consumers, and that manufacturers and retailers do not change the base price in response to the change in policy.

dR/dt = PQ + t P dQ/dt

Assuming that dt = dP (i.e. 100 percent pass through) yields

dR/dt = PQ + t P dQ/dP

Revenue will decline if dR/dt < 0 or when

PQ + t P dQ/dP < 0

Dividing both sides by Q yields:

 $P + t \left[P/Q \, dQ/dP \right] < 0$

The quantity in brackets is the price elasticity of demand (η) so revenues will decline if and only if

 $P + t \eta < 0$

For example, if an average pack of cigarettes costs \$2 and the elasticity is -0.5, then the tax rate would have to be 400 percent before revenues would start to decline – assuming constant elasticity, no further response in price by wholesalers or retailers, and full pass-through of the tax to consumers.